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ABSTRACT

This report documents the results of archaeological inves-
tigations at the site of the coach-house at Bellevue House
NHP, in Kingston Ontario. Hand-trenched excavations were
carried out during November and December 1980, in the rear
yard of the Pérk adminlistration bullding. Two supplemental
trenches were excavated; one in the basement of the admin-
istration building, and one on an ad jacent Kingston Public
Utilities Commission right-of-way.

This research Was/undertaken as part of the park's on-
going interpretation of the site and as a salvage operation
in advance of proposed construction activities, on the
coach-house site. The accurate location and size of the
structure was determined from the research. In addition,
unique masonry construction details and a substantial wing
attachment which originally had a stone masonry vaulted roof
were documented. Additional details regarding the bulldings
functions, its interior, its outward appearance and previous

grade levels surrounding it were identified.
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PREFACE

Thls report describes the historic archaeological research
at the coach~house site at Bellevue House NHP. The objec-
tives of the investigation were: (1) to determine the ex-
act size and location of the coach-house structure; (2) to
salvage and/or record the cultural remains associated with
the site in order to permit an accurate interpretation of
the coach;house; (3) to record building hardware and con-
struction details in order to increase our present knowledge
in those areas and to asslist in creating a data base for
comparative analysis purposes; (4) to determine the evolu-
tion and functions of the coach-house; (5) to establish
the relationship of the coach-house to Bellevue itself, and
(6) 1in broader terms, to establish the relationship be-
tween coach-houses and thelr associated resldences.

Hand-trenching techniques were employed, and it was
discovered that a portion of the feature extended onto the
ad jJacent Kingston Public Utilities Commission property.
Permission was granted by the Commission to allow limited
excavations on their property. This aspect of the research
was carried out under the authority of the conservation

licence issued to the Regional Archaeologist, Easterm Region,
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Historical Planning and Research Branch, Ontario Ministry
of Culture and Recreatlon, and the supervision of the
regional archaeologiste.

Preliminary excavations had been conducted on the park
property during October 1979 by Harley Stark. The inter-
pretations of his draft report (1980) have been re-evaluated

in 1light of these more recent findings.



INTRODUCTION

Bellevue's coach-house was demolished in the mid - 1950s,

after a long period of deterioration during the first half
of this century. The history of the coach-house has been

examined in two modern sources: R.R. Dixon (1969) and M.L.
Evans (1979).

Bellevue House was built during a time of prosperity,
shortly before Kingston had been chosen as capital for the
combined provinces of Upper and Lower Canada. A local grocer
and entrepreneur, Charles Hales, constructed the Italian
style villa sometime between 1838 and 1840. When Kingston
was proclaimed the capital in 1841, Hales was leasing out
his villa. In August 1848, the house was rented to John A.
MacDonald, who was at that time a Member of the Legislative
Assembly.

MacDonald and his wife, Isabella, only occupied Bellevue
for a year. A month after they moved into the house, their
young son dieds A short time later, MacDonald's law prac-
tise began to fall and they were forced to move to more
modest quarters in downtown Kingston. Presumably, Bellevue
continued to be leased out while in Hales' possession. Owner-

ship of the property passed through many hands until it was



purchased by the federal government in 1964.

It would have been necessary for a residence such as
Bellevue to have had outbuildings such as a coach-house, a
stable, a privy, etc. Therefore, it is very possible that
the coach-house structure, which was excavated, dates to
the time that Bellevue itself was constructed. The first
historical documentation of its existance is on a plan of
the city of Kingston, dating to 1850 (Figure 1). This map
shows Bellevue House and an L-shaped carriage house. The
next piece of historical documentation which illustrates
the coach-house, is a fortification survey plan of Kingston,
in 1869 (Figure 2). This drawing shows the L-shaped coach-
house with a projecting wing on its north side. The insur-
ance plan of Kingston for 1908 (Figure 3), shows the coach-
house, but does not indicate the wing addition.

The building is documented in this century in home
movies taken in the 1920s by the Atack family, the last
private owners of the property. The insurance plan from
1908 indicates that the east end of the building was used as
a stable and the west end was used for the carriages (Evans
1979: 3). The Atack family had used the building as a garage
for their automobiles. As the structure began to deteriorate
it was used as a children's club house, until portions of it
began to collapse. Finally, that part of the lot was sold,
the remainder of the building levelled, and a bungalow (the

present administration building) built on the site. Arch-



aeological excavations were conducted during October 1979
(Stark 1980) and November and December 1980.

The results of the latter investigations are recorded
in the body of this report. The Parks Canada provenience
and excavation records systems were used throughout the
project; and the soil colours were matched to the Munsell
Soil Color charts.

A major loglstics problem was encountered during the
process of excavation. A large twentleth century midden
was found to extend across nearly the entire sites. Due to
the recent date of the artifacts (c.1950), it was determined
that these artifacts related to the coach~house after it had
ceased to function and was in a state of ruin. In addition,
the time constraints of the project (six week field season)
made it impossible to salvage all of the artifacts as well
as completing the scope of the work as outlined in the ex-
cavation plan.,.

Therefore, it was agreed among the acting Superintendent,
the Senior Archaeologist and the Contractor that the salvage

of artifacts relating to the midden would be suspended.



ARCHAEOLOGY

The excavations were concentrated in the rear yard of the
administration building. The terrain of the yard drops
sharply in two directions (towards the east and towards
the south). The surrounding land slopes steeply to the
south, down to Lake Ontario. The underlying geology con-
sists of limestone bedrock, which is part of the Napanee
Plain geological formation.

The archaeological operations were excavated to bed-
rock where feasible. However, the unusual nature of the
site resulted in severe logistical problems. The yard it-
self was confined on all four sides and therefore the ex-
cavated fill could not be removed from the site. 1In addition,
it was necessary to protect several large trees and theilr
root systems. An unusual soils engineering problem resulted
due to the proximity of the feature to the administration
building and the depth of the feature below grade. Conse-
quently, it was necessary to restrict the extent of the ex-
cavations, since the floor of the coach-house occurred at a
level below the bungalow's footings.

Supplemental excavations in the Public Utilities right-

of-way and in the administration building's basement were



necessary in order to determine the exact size of the coach-
house and the construction details and size of the north

wing.

Operation 10H2

This excavation was divided into two main sub-operations;
10H2A and 10HZ2B. These excavations were originally the

southern end of a 1.0 m wide trench which extended across
the width of the yard. The purpose of this trench was to
locate the long walls of the coach-house by intersecting
them at ninety degrees. It was excavated in conjunction
with operation 10H3 and 10H9, to the northe. The coach-

house wall was not located in operation 10HZ2.

Sub-operation 10H2A (Figure 6, Table 1 )

This trench was 3.0 m long and was not excavated deeper
than 0.60 m below grade due to the presence of many very
large limestone "slabs". The average size of these slabs
was approximately 0.20 m thick, by 0.80 m long, by 0.50 m
wide. The size and extent of distribution of this type of
stone was consistant across the entire site. These lime-
stone slabs were not trimmed in any way and were generally

too large to have been used for masonry wall construction.

Sub-operation 10H2B (Figure 6, Table 2 )

The southern limit of 10H2A was extended approxiamtely



1.0 m south to the fence-line. This 1.5 m wide sub-oper-
ation was designated as 10H2B. The upper soill layers were
similar to those recorded for 10H2A. However, it was pos-
sible to excavate 10H2B to a much deeper level. Excavation
proceeded to a depth of 1.5 m below grade but was suspended

at that level for site safety and logistical reasonse.

Operation 10H3

This operation was the northern 5.7 m long section of the

1.0 m wide trench across the yards It was divided into

three sub-operations: 10H3A, 10H3B, and 10H3C. This oper-
ation was intended to identify the long walls of the coach-
house by intersecting them at a ninety degree angle. The
entire operation was excavated in conjunction with operations
10H2 and 10H9 to the north. Sub-operation 10H3B located

the north wall of the structure. The south wall was exposed

in operation 10H9.

Sub=-operation 10H3A (Figure 17,Table 3 )

The large limestone slabs, identified in 10HZA, were found

in sub-operation 10H3A as well. It was possible to excavate
to bedrock in this trench, and the first feature relating to
the coach-house was discovered here. Thls sub-overation was
L.0 m long and located immediately north of 10H9A. It was
separated from the adjacent sub-operation, 10H3B, by a 0.70 m

wide balk. Part of an extremely large limestone "slab" rested



on the top of the balke. The slab was approximately 1.0 m
wide, 0.20 m thick and 2.0 m long; and extended through a
050 m wide balk to the west and into the ad jacent operation,
10H5. A 0.05 m diameter bore-hole extended through the

thickness of the stone.

Sub-operation 10H3B (Figure 14,17,18, Table 4 )

This trench was the 1.0 m long northern extension of the

1.0 m wide trench, 10H3A. The northern limit of 10H3B was

a rough coarsed, rough cut, limestone masonry wall. The
mortar in the wall was crumbling and deteriorating and tree
roots had penetrated the thickness of the wall in a few lo-
cations. Excavation of this trench proceeded until the
concrete floor (uncovered in sub-operation 10H3A) was reached.

The excavation was halted there, for safety reasons.

Sub-operation 10H3C (Figure 17, Table 5 )

Sub-operation 10H3C, was excavated on the other side of the
masonry wall. It was the 1.0 m wide northern extension of
10H3B. The upper layer of this excavation was found to con-
tain twentieth century glass, ceramic and metal artifacts.
The sub-operation extended 0.80 m north from the northern

limit of 10H3B.

Operation 10H4

This operation consisted of a 1.0 m wide trench which was



excavated 10.1 m across the west end of the yard. This end
of the yard was considerably higher than the east end. Al-
though the excavations were continued down to a depth of
1.5 m below grade in some places; the work was severely
hampered by the presence of large limestone "slabs". The
initial purpose of the 1.0 m wide trench was to identify
the location of the long walls of the coach-house by inter-
secting them at ninety degrees. The south wall was not
located, but the north wall and an attached wing addition
were exposed on the north end of the site (10H4C). The
operation was broken down into five sub-operations:

10HU4A - south end of 1.0 m wide trench

10H4B - north end of 1.0 m wide trench

10H4C - interior of wing addition (north of 10H4B)

10H4D - exterior of wing addition (west of 10HA4C)

10HU4E - exterior of wing addition (north of 10H4C on Public

Utilities property).

Sub-operation 10H4A (Figure 7, Table 6 )

This trench was the 7.65 m long southern end of the 1.0 m
wide excavation. The large limestone "slabs" were encountered
at a depth of 0.90 m below grade. Consequently, it was not
possible to excavate this trench deeper than 1.45 m below
grade. The north end of the trench cut through the site of
one of the preliminary archaeological trenches (Stark 1980;
10H1D) .



Sub-operation 10H4B (Figure 7, Table 7 )

Thls trench was the 2.45 m long northern end of the 1.0 m
wide excavation. The large limestone slabs also occurred

at the same depth as in 10H4A. Therefore, excavations could
not proceed beyond that levels A 0.12 m diameter log was
uncovered at the north end of the trench. The log occurred
perpendicular to the length of the trench, and it was deter-
mined that it was unrelated to any major feature. The ex-
treme northern end of this sub-operation cut into a midden
which contained large quantities of glass, ceramic and metal

artifacts.

Sub-operation 10H4C (Figures 8-13, Table 8 )

The northern 2.50 m of the 1.0 m wide trench was designated
as sub-operation 10H4C. It encountered a large twentieth
century midden, and limestone building rubble. This sub-
operation was expanded laterally to the east and west. The
remainder of a walled structure, and collapsed sections of
a vaulted stone roof were uncovered during this process.
This area was preliminarily interpreted as having been the
attached north wing of the coach-house.

The lateral extensions of sub-operation 10H4C exposed
substantial masonry walls on both sides parallel to the
original trench. Excavations on the exterior of the east wall
(1ees to the east) were not possible due to the presence of

several very large trees. It was determined that this feature
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was a separate wing attachment of the coach-house.

Sub-operation 10H4D (Figures 8,9,10,12,13, Table 9 )

A trench was excavated on the west side of the west wall,
close to the administration building's foundation. This
sub-operation, 10H4D, revealed that the exterior of the
masonry wall identified in 10HUC was bullt against a com-
paratively shallow bedrock ledge. A previous grade level
0.60 m below existing grade level was identified in this
sub=operation. In addition, the intersection of the west
wall of the wing with the north wall of the coach=house was
uncovered. It was noted that the masonry of the walls was
not interlocked (i.e. the walls of the wing were not tied
into the walls of the coach-house). It was also noted that
the north wall of the coach-house continued to the west to-
wards the administration buildinge. Limestone building rubble
had apparently been piled between the north face of the coach-

house wall and the bedrock ledge to the north.

Sub-operation 10H4E (Figures 8,9,13, Table 10)

It was determined that the north wall of the structure ex-
tended onto the adjacent Kingston Public Utilities Commission
right-of-way. Permission was received from the Commission

to undertake a limited excavation on their property, and

this work was carried out under authority of the Ontario

Ministry of Culture and Recreation's Eastern Archaeologist,
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Phillip Wrighte The excavations in that sub-operation,
10H4E, subsequently revealed the extent of the structure
and its construction details. A 1.0 m trench was excavated
and it exposed the north end of the north wall and revealed
a "double-wall" type of masonry construction which had been
identified in the east and west walls of the wing. A pre-

vious grade level was identified 0.25 m below existing grade.

Operation 10H5

Sub-operation 10H5A (Figures 14,15, Table 11)

This was the only sub-operation in operation 10H5. It con-
sisted of a 2.0 m by 2.0 m square trench, approximately 0.50 m
to the west of operation 10H3 and approximately in line with
sub-operations 10H3B,C. Its purpose was to investigate the
north wall of the coach-house which was exposed in operation
10H3y The northern end of the excavation, 10H5A, exposed the in-
terior side of the main north wall. The excavation proceeded

to a depth of approximately 1l.75 m below grade. At that point,
a concrete floor surface was encountered. At that stage, ex-

cavations were suspended for safety reasons.

Operation 10H6

Sub-operation 10H6A (Figures 14,15, Table 12)

The only sub-operation was 10H6A. It consisted of a 2.0 m
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by 2.0 m square trench, 0.50 m to the east and in line with
operation 10H6. 1Its purpose was to further investigate

the interior side of the north wall of the coach-house.

The northern end of the trench exposed a portion of the
main north wall. The trench was excavated to a depth of
235 m below grades A concrete floor structure was en-
countered 2.0 m below grade. A section of the floor was
broken away and decayed wood members were revealed immed-
iately beneath the concrete. Limestone bedrock was reached

0«35 m below the concrete floor surface.

Operation 10H7

Sub-operation 10H7A (Figure 16, Table 13)

The only sub-operation was 10H7A. It consisted of a 1.5 m

by 2.0 m rectangular trench which was located adjacent to

the administration building's east foundation wall, 3.0 m
south of the north end of the building. The purpose of this
trench was to determine the extent of the disturbances to the
coach-house ruin, resulting from the construction of the
bungalows The west end of the operation cut through a OO0 m
thick layer of crushed stone at a depth of 1.25 m below grade.
This was apparently related to the drainage tile system
around the perimeter of the administration building. The main
north wall of the coach-house was located 1.60 m below grade

and was located in the centre of the trench. This limestone






